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Mission Statement
“We aim to be the leading brand development
and management company, improving the
lifestyles of our customers through our
distinctive branded conceptual products and
services, and continuously striving to achieve
growth, profitability and shareholder value.”
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Leisure and
Entertainment at
its finest.
Welcome to the world of branded lifestyle concepts.

LETTER

TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders
Financial year (“FY”) 2007 has been an important year in
the growth of LifeBrandz, as we exited our remaining legacy
businesses and continued our focus on managing and growing
our core branded entertainment concepts.

Though it has only been less than a year since we departed
from the nutritional products business, we have already
established a leadership position in Singapore’s F&B and
entertainment industry. Our renewed focus on this business
sector has seen a successful doubling of our revenue from
S$17.95 million in FY2006 to S$37.43 million in FY2007. Much
of this is attributable to a full year’s contribution from Balcony
Bar and Ministry of Sound, as well as around a half-year’s
contribution from the new venues at The Cannery, as well as
from Café del Mar.

Towards the end of FY2006, we exited from the nutritional
products business by divesting our interests in the LifePharm
companies. Though we have had our successes in that
business sector, we recognise there are more exciting and
profitable opportunities in the F&B and entertainment sector.
In 2006, our leading brand Ministry of Sound won the Tourism
Award for Best Nightspot Experience awarded by the Singapore
Tourism Board, which is a testimony to our continuous efforts
to create world-class standards in terms of experience, quality
and service in the Singapore nightlife industry. The Singapore
Government’s initiatives to promote tourism gathered pace
during the year, and are already yielding promising results
– Singapore has won the rights to stage a leg of the lucrative
Formula 1 race in 2008 and 2009 and the country’s first
integrated resorts are set to launch from 2009.

In this industry, considerable advertising and promotional
expenses and start up costs are incurred pre-launch and prior
to the opening of a new entertainment venue, as was the
case in FY2007. While A&P expenses have settled as brand
names such as Ministry of Sound and Fashion Bar become
more established in the entertainment scene in Singapore, this
has been offset in part by pre-operating costs incurred for the
rejuvenation of concepts at Barfly and the introduction of Lunar
Asian Fusion Bar at The Cannery (in August and September
2007 respectively). Other major outlays associated with the
launch of new venues include rental on operating leases and
licences, permits relating to the acquisition of brand rights and
staff and other operating costs.

LifeBrandz is well-positioned to capitalise on these
developments. In the second quarter of FY2007, we announced
the launch of our new branded entertainment district, The
Cannery, which began operations in December 2006 at the
newly-revived Clarke Quay in Singapore. The culmination of
months of deliberation and negotiation, not only to bring big
brand names such as the iconic Barfly to Singapore, but also
to secure preferential lease terms at competitive rates in Clarke
Quay, have certainly borne fruit. Shortly after, we announced
the launch of Singapore’s first designer beach bar, Café del
Mar, on Sentosa island in January 2007.

LifeBrandz Ltd

On an overall basis, after the deduction of start up cost and
other factors, we achieved a net profit after minority interest of
S$434,000 for the continuing operations.
Our efforts to consolidate our borrowings have also paid off. In
FY2007, we reduced our level of unsecured borrowings by a
third or S$2.61 million, to S$5.45 million at the end of FY2007.
Our operating cash flow also continues to be strong.
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At the end of FY2007, we recorded an increase of cash and
cash equivalents to S$15.57 million, from S$13.90 million in the
previous year. We have also doubled our property, plant and
equipment asset base in the past financial year, from S$8.23
million the previous year to S$16.85 million this year, in line with
our increased operational footprint.

expatriates with increasing spending power and appetite for
F&B and entertainment options of international standards.
Our second area of focus will be continued prudence in financial
and operational administration, as we rationalise unprofitable
legacy operations and enter new areas of growth opportunities.
Towards the end of FY2007, we disposed of our interests in
Dashing Diva and N-Inc, allowing us to direct resources and
efforts towards building upon our leadership position in the
F&B and entertainment industry in Singapore, and expanding
across the region.

In the coming year, our management team’s focus for FY2008
will be twofold.
First, we will focus on continuing to build and fortify our existing
brands to prepare them for future domestic and regional growth.
In our home market of Singapore, the advent of Formula 1 and
the integrated resorts over the next two years will bring further
vibrancy and excitement, and our branded entertainment
concepts are already well-positioned to capitalise on these
upcoming opportunities.

In closing, I would like to extend my warmest appreciation to our
Board members, and to my fellow key management and staff
who have been instrumental to the success of LifeBrandz. On
behalf of the rest of the Board, I would also like to express my
gratitude to our customers, partners and business associates.

Based on securing an early-mover advantage in target regional
markets with high growth potential (such as gaming industries
across Asia and gateway cities in Greater China starting with
Macao), our strategy is to replicate successful concepts and
business models across these high growth areas. In this
regard, preparations for the launch of Asia’s first Buddha-bar,
the anchor entertainment concept at The Venetian® MacaoResort-Hotel by Las Vegas Sands, are progressing well. We
schedule to launch by end 2007/early 2008.

Finally and most importantly, I would like to thank our
shareholders for their continuing support and confidence in us.
Thank you.
Clement Lee
Chief Executive Officer

We also continue to explore further expansion opportunities
in the PRC, particularly in the gateway cities such as Beijing
and Shanghai, home to a growing population of locals and

LifeBrandz Ltd
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BOARD

OF DIRECTORS
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Managing Director
Mr. Clement Lee was appointed as our Executive Director on 19 January 2005 (last reappointed on 18 November 2005) and is currently the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the
Group. As CEO, Mr. Lee is responsible for the overall management of the Group, setting
strategic direction and plans for the Group’s future growth and expansion. In 2005, Mr.
Lee spearheaded the Group’s change in business direction, focusing on building branded
entertainment venues. Prior to his current designation, Mr. Lee was Chief Brand Officer of
the Group, and was responsible for developing and managing the Group’s brand portfolio,
several of which earned numerous Superbrands awards. Before joining LifeBrandz, Mr.
Lee accumulated over 14 years’ of multi-brand, multi-industry experience from design
and advertising, to media and marketing. He held various senior positions in both the
communications and consumer sectors regionally.
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Executive Director
Mr. Kenneth Goh was appointed as our Executive Director on 7 November 2003 (last reappointed on 18 November 2005). As Chief Operating Officer and co-founder, Mr. Goh
assists the CEO in formulating long-term strategy and direction for the Group. His day-today responsibilities include administrative and legal matters, banking relationships and the
general management of Group affairs. Prior to founding LifeBrandz, Mr. Goh accumulated
over 11 years’ experience in the banking and finance industry, in senior positions including
Head of Privilege Banking at Bangkok Bank (Singapore branch), and managerial roles in
Citibank, N.A., Merrill Lynch International Bank (Singapore), Societe Generale and Schroder
International Merchant Bankers Ltd.

Lee Soon Kie
Independent Director
Mr. Lee Soon Kie was appointed as an Independent Director of the Group on 21 April 2004
(last re-appointed on 29 November 2006). He is Chairman of the Group’s Nominating and
Remuneration Committees and a member of the Group’s Audit Committee. In addition, he
holds directorship in other companies including Babcock & Brown Structured Finance Fund
where he is an Independent Director. Mr. Lee is currently the Group CEO of IFS Capital Limited
(“IFS”), a regional financial services group involved in financing and insurance. Prior to IFS, he
was a senior executive of the PhillipCapital group of companies where he was in charge of
the institutional business involving mergers and acquisitions as well as debt capital markets
business. He also holds directorships in various PhillipCapital companies. Before PhillipCapital,
Mr. Lee was with the Schroders Group in South East Asia holding various senior appointments,
including Head of Fixed Income (Asia) as well as Managing Director and Country Head for
Schroders (Thailand) Limited. In his capacity as Managing Director and Country Head in Thailand,
he was responsible for cross border financing and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Lee was also
appointed to the Board of Directors of Schroder International Merchant Bankers Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Schroders PLC.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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Irwin Lim Kee Way
Independent Director
Mr. Irwin Lim was appointed as an Independent Director of the Group on 21 April 2004 (last reappointed on 18 November 2005). He is Chairman of the Group’s Audit Committee and a member
of the Group’s Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Mr. Lim is currently the Group Chief
Financial Officer of United Test and Assembly Centre Ltd (UTAC). Prior to that, Mr. Lim has vast
experience in the field of venture capital and private equity activities in Asia and was previously
responsible for AsiaVest Partners, TCW/YFY (Taiwan) Ltd’s investments, primarily in the Southeast
Asian region. Mr. Lim, who started his career with the Economic Development Board of Singapore,
had also been involved in investment consulting services.

Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Non-Executive Director
Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III was appointed as our Non-Executive Director on 21 April
2004 (last re-appointed on 8 November 2004). He is a member of the Group’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Committee. Mr. Thompson is currently a director
of ACH Investments Pte Ltd, an investment advisory firm. Prior to that, Mr. Thompson held
various senior positions in leading foreign banks including a Partner in SBC-Brinson (now UBS
Asset Management), CEO Asia-Pacific of HSBC Asset Management, Managing Director of
Wardley Investment Services (Australia) Limited and Chief Economist of Wardley Investment
Services (Hong Kong). Mr. Thompson is also a past Chairman of the Hong Kong Investment
Funds Association.

Michael Wong C. K.
Non-Executive Director
Mr. Michael Wong was appointed as our Non-Executive Director on 28 April 2007. Prior
to that, Mr. Wong was the CEO and Executive Director of LifeBrandz Ltd. Mr. Wong
accumulated valuable management experience from various industries ranging from lifestyle
products and services, banking, finance and accounting. He held various senior positions
in the leading international banks, including Citibank, N.A (Singapore), UBS AG (Singapore)
and Merrill Lynch International Bank Ltd (Singapore).

LifeBrandz Ltd
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MANAGEMENT
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Chief Executive Officer
As CEO, Mr. Clement Lee is responsible for the overall management of the Group, setting
strategic direction and plans for the Group’s future growth and expansion. In 2005, Mr.
Lee spearheaded the Group’s change in business direction, focusing on building branded
entertainment venues. Prior to his current designation, Mr. Lee was Chief Brand Officer of
the Group, and was responsible for developing and managing the Group’s brand portfolio,
several of which earned numerous Superbrands awards. Before joining LifeBrandz, Mr.
Lee accumulated over 14 years’ of multi-brand, multi-industry experience from design
and advertising, to media and marketing. He held various senior positions in both the
communications and consumer sectors regionally.

Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Chief Operating Officer
As Chief Operating Officer and co-founder, Mr. Kenneth Goh assists the CEO in formulating
long-term strategy and direction for the Group. His day-to-day responsibilities include
administrative and legal matters, banking relationships and the general management of
Group affairs. Prior to founding LifeBrandz, Mr. Goh accumulated over 11 years’ experience
in the banking and finance industry, in senior positions including Head of Privilege Banking
at Bangkok Bank (Singapore branch), and managerial roles in Citibank, N.A., Merrill Lynch
International Bank (Singapore), Societe Generale and Schroder International Merchant
Bankers Ltd.

Bernard Lim Miang
Executive Vice President
As the Executive Vice President, Mr. Bernard Lim assists the Group Management in working
on the long-term strategies and objectives of the Company. His day-to-day responsibilities
include managing Marketing and Public Relations for the Group, while working on overseas
expansion projects. Before joining LifeBrandz, Mr. Lim was in the media industry for 15
years. He was Vice President for MediaCorp Radio Singapore, managing the radio stations’
programming and businesses in the last 4 years.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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Jonathan Lim Chen Wei
Group Financial Controller
As Group Financial Controller, Mr. Jonathan Lim is in-charge of the daily finance operation of
the Group. Before joining LifeBrandz, Mr. Lim held various positions such as Group Financial
Controller of Union Steel and Finance Manager at Digiland International. Mr. Lim is a certified
public accountant with the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore, and is a
certified internal auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors. He graduated with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accountancy from the Nanyang Technological University in 1998.

Rod Glen Pearson
Vice President, Operations and Special Projects
As Vice President of Operations and Special Projects, Mr. Rod Pearson is responsible for
the Group’s extensive and diverse operations. Mr. Pearson is also responsible for setting
up the operational structure for the future growth abroad, ensuring that these businesses
operate to the highest standards presently being achieved in the Group’s Singapore
branded entertainment venues. Prior to LifeBrandz, Mr. Pearson has accumulated over
30 years experience in the Leisure and Hospitality industry in the UK, holding several
senior management positions with large multi national companies. He has been involved in
restaurant and club businesses all his working life, and also has had experience in managing
theme parks and amusement centers abroad.

Calvin Sio Chai Chern
Assistant Vice-President, Marketing
As Assistant Vice-President of the Group’s lifestyle entertainment businesses, Mr. Calvin
Sio oversees the day-to-day planning and execution of marketing strategies for these
establishments. Mr. Sio led and built the Group’s marketing team in both the preparation
and initial stages of the Ministry of Sound’s conception in Singapore in 2005, and was
instrumental in helping the Group achieve the Singapore Tourism Board’s ‘Best Nightspot
Experience’ Award 2006 for the Ministry of Sound. Prior to LifeBrandz, Mr. Sio was Asia’s
product manager for the Ministry of Sound album label at Universal Music where he was
in-charge of both conceptualising and putting together its branded compilation albums for
the region.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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We’re at the forefront
of leisure branding
Our ever-expanding portfolio represents only top, hip and
happening brands.

The massive 80,000 sq ft space made its mark on the
local clubbing scene last year when renowned dance
club Ministry of Sound opened its doors here.

Singapore can now experience the ultimate beach party
life this island has to offer. The much-anticipated Café
del Mar gives sunsets on Sentosa a new meaning and
new thrill by setting new standards as beach parties
become de rigueur in nightlife.

Buddha-bar, world famous for its legendary restaurant
club in Paris and its ambient lounge music collection,
will be opening for the first time in Asia at The Venetian ®
Macao-Resort-Hotel by Las Vegas Sands.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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Overview of 2007

Branded entertainment real estate management

LifeBrandz is Singapore’s leading brand developer and manager
focusing on the F&B and entertainment sectors, an important
contributor to a vibrant nightlife and tourism experience in
Singapore and the region.

In tandem with the brand management business, LifeBrandz is
a leader in branded entertainment real estate management.
We work closely with property companies and land developers
such as CapitaLand on development opportunities, seeking to
add value to entire precincts.

In FY2007, we focused on acquiring and developing our
brands to produce unique and attractive offerings that
meet the growing demands and expectations for branded
entertainment concepts. Our brands portfolio comprises of
leading brands, that are either proprietary or licensed from our
valued principals. Our business model is based on developing
anchor entertainment concepts in its target markets.

Furthermore, our entertainment spaces are based on long-term
leases with an average of 10 years’ duration at competitive
market rates, with the option to sublease the spaces. As such,
we have secured attractive lease rates and terms in strategic
locations such as Clarke Quay.

In line with our objective of focusing on our core F&B and
entertainment business, we exited our remaining legacy
businesses by disposing of the LifePharm group of companies
towards the end of FY2006. Subsequently in July 2007, we
disposed of our interests in Dashing Diva Singapore and NInc which are primarily engaged in offering nail care products
and services and the marketing, sale and distribution of ladies’
shoes and bags, respectively.

With our branded concepts put in place, we are also able
to increase the premium value of the properties and the
surrounding precincts.
Looking ahead
As LifeBrandz continues to establish itself as one of the most
dynamic lifestyle players in the country and region, we will
look to replicate successful concepts, including our business
model based on seeking branded real estate entertainment
opportunities in our target markets throughout the region.

Branded entertainment venues
Our key expertise lies in our ability to spot growing trends
and opportunities in the industry, identifying and acquiring
those brands that will be successful in the target markets,
and working closely with brand owners to localise branded
concepts for Asian markets. Our licensing agreements with
major brand owners are typically on long-term basis, ranging
from 10 to 20 years.

Looking ahead, we anticipate the launch of Asia’s first Buddhabar at The Venetian® Macao-Resort-Hotel by Las Vegas Sands
in Macao at the end of 2007/early 2008. At the same time,
we are exploring further opportunities in China, in key gateway
cities such as Beijing and Shanghai.
In Singapore, we have strategically cemented the foundations
to benefit from opportunities arising from the two integrated
resorts as well as the inaugural F1 race in 2008. LifeBrandz
is well positioned to capitalise on the influx of tourists and to
capture a share of the increased tourist revenue.

In 2006, we launched the iconic house music nightclub Ministry
of Sound in Singapore, and subsequently, other exciting
branded F&B and entertainment venues at The Cannery at
Clarke Quay, including Aurum, Barfly by Buddha-bar, Bice
Bistro, Clinic, Fashion Bar, Kandi Bar, Lunar Asian Fusion Bar
and Nectarie. In January 2007, we expanded our portfolio of
branded entertainment concepts and opened Café del Mar,
Singapore’s first designer beach club, at Sentosa island.

LifeBrandz at The Cannery, Clarke Quay
The Cannery

LifeBrandz looks to continue replicating and growing successful
business models, with a focus on market expansion in gateway
cities such as Macao, Beijing and Shanghai in China.

The Cannery brings together nine exciting branded
entertainment venues - Aurum, Barfly, Bice Bistro, Clinic,
Fashion Bar, Kandi Bar, Lunar Asian Fusion Bar, Ministry of
Sound and Nectarie.

With our growing portfolio of established brands, LifeBrandz
has the flexibility to adapt and even interchange brands
and concepts at the various venues, according to market
preferences.

LifeBrandz Ltd

The Cannery was launched in December 2006, and has since
become the mecca party central of Singapore, occupying over
80,000 sq ft and two floor spaces at Block C in Clarke Quay,
River Valley Road.
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The Cannery is Singapore’s first one-stop ultimate lifestyle and
entertainment destination featuring international brands and
concepts in clubbing and dining that promises an experience
like no other.

Bice Bistro
Renowned for its beautifully-rendered Italian cucina all over
the world, the Bice brand is synonymous with excellent quality
cuisine served in a traditional atmosphere. Bice Bistro offers
a menu of hearty Italian classics made with panache. Bice
Bistro is sure to please true food connoisseurs, while savoury
desserts freshly made in the Bice Bistro kitchen are sure to
satiate the cravings of those seeking a sweet finish to a meal.

Aurum
After receiving worldwide acclaim and reviews since opening in
December 2006, Aurum is back with a new menu, new décor
and new location situated quaintly between Bice Bistro and
Fashion Bar.

Clinic
Located right in the heart of Clarke Quay, Clinic’s unique alfresco
venue is easily identified by its hospital whites, colourful pills,
syringes, drips, test-tubes and paraphernalia in all manner of
the ironic pharma-kitsch décor.

Aurum’s brand new minimalist décor is cosy, warm, and with a
touch of Aurum (gold in latin). Theatrical operating lights add a
dash of drama to the ambience, while diners enjoy 13 original
artworks by English artist Damien Hirst on display.
Aurum is one of the first fine-dining restaurants in Singapore to
offer avant-garde, post-modern cuisine.

In tribute to the tongue-in-cheek pop art of Damien Hirst, the
ambience of this bar is all at once, both controversial and
conspiratorial.

Barfly by Buddha-bar
Barfly by Buddha-bar is a visually seductive restaurant-bar
where the sophistication of the atmosphere is equally matched
with the unique influences of its exotic menu.

Fashion Bar
Parisian-based Fashion Bar brings glam and chic to our
shores. Decked out in “bling-bling” crystals and mirrors, its
walls are flanked by mini-TV screens looping Fashion TV.

With a cuisine inspired by bold flavours of Asia, Mediterranean
essences and worldly infusions, Barfly’s winning formula lies in
being an uber-chic nightspot that fuses traditional Asian charm
and modern western Zen together in one magnificent blend.

Party the night away with the stylish fashionistas amidst the
latest, up-tempo beats.
Kandi Bar
A tribute to the Hed Kandi clan around the world, Kandi Bar
is the new chill-out, grown-up extension of the Ministry of
Sound.

With its killer combination of eclectic décor, top-notch cuisine
and intoxicating music, this haven for nightlife gurus and food
aficionados alike is set to bring every aspect of the dining and
chill-out experience to new levels.

LifeBrandz Ltd

Adorned with infinity-mirrored floors, wall-to-wall murals and
piped up sexy grooves, Kandi Bar boasts Bauhaus style décor
with a new, modern twist.
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Lunar Asian Fusion Bar
Housed in an approximately 15,000 sq ft venue, Lunar heralds
a new era for the entertainment industry by redefining “live”
performance with a distinct ensemble that marries old world
Asian instruments with the scores of modern orchestration.

Singapore can now experience the ultimate beach party life this
unique venue has to offer! The much-anticipated Café del Mar
gives sunsets on Sentosa a new meaning. With its music and
Ibiza pedigree, Café del Mar Singapore reinvents the beach
party culture and is set to become the iconic spot in beach life
and entertainment in this city.

The unique genre of music creates a perfect ambience for
those who desire a respite from the more conventional concept
of music and entertainment, making it the entertainment
sanctuary for the discerning.

LifeBrandz at Orchard
Balcony Bar
Launched in November 2005, The Balcony Bar sits at the top
of the Heeren along Orchard Road, Singapore’s main shopping
street.

Ministry of Sound
UK’s largest underground club needs little introduction. In
Singapore, the Club has five uniquely themed rooms which are
the Arena (main room), Studio 54 (retro), Pure (house music),
Sky Lounge (VIP area) and Smoove (hip hop and R&B music).

Relax on low strung lounge chairs or chill out in the bar’s jacuzzi
while puffing on shishas and sipping mojitos. This is the place
to enjoy evening sunsets while watching the bustling city life
go by.

Each room caters to a different genre of music and clubbers
are able to explore and experience all these different flavours in
the same nightclub location.

LifeBrandz in Other Countries

Nectarie
Nectarie is dubbed as “the place for clubbers who eat cake”.
Situated eloquently in the midst of the action, this eye-catching
pink patisserie-deli is part of the uber-glitzy bars, clubs and
restaurants situated at The Cannery.

Buddha-bar at The Venetian® Macao-Resort-Hotel
Buddha-bar, world famous for its legendary restaurant club in
Paris and its ambient lounge music, will be opening for the
first time in Asia at The Venetian® Macao-Resort-Hotel by Las
Vegas Sands.

A delightful assortment from cakes and pastries, to
sandwiches and coffee may be found here, at all hours of
the day and evening.

Buddha-bar is set to be the anchor entertainment catering to
an exclusive, high-profile clientele, occupying over 40,000 sq ft
of entertainment and dining space on the premises.

LifeBrandz at Sentosa
Café del Mar
The original Café del Mar in Ibiza was created in 1980 out of an
inspiration to showcase the mediterranean sea on San Antonio
beach.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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As At 31 July 2007

100%

80%

100%

100%

100%

Balcony Pte. Ltd.

100%

Cannery Holding Pte. Ltd.

Palms Development Pte. Ltd.

100%

100%

Brandz+ Pte. Ltd.

Cannery Leisure Pte. Ltd.

Mercier Group Pte. Ltd.

Ministry of Sound Pte. Ltd.

Tribeca Leisure Pte. Ltd.

4%

96%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Tribeca Leisure (Macau) Limited

Luminox Pte. Ltd.

Orientstar Group Limited

LB Investments Limited

Brandzplus Inc.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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The Board of Directors of LifeBrandz Ltd (the “Company”) is committed to ensure that the highest standards of corporate
governance and transparency are practised throughout the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), as a fundamental part
of discharging its responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholder value and the disclosure of financial information of the
Group. In view of this, the Board fully supports the principles behind the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”), which
forms part of the Continuing Obligations of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)’s Listing Manual, by
adopting the Code as appropriate throughout the Group.
The SGX-ST’s Listing Manual requires an issuer to describe its corporate governance practices with specific reference to the
Code in its annual report. It must also disclose any deviation from any aspect of the Code together with an appropriate
explanation for such deviation in the annual report.

This statement outlines the policies adopted during the financial year ended 31 July 2007 (“FY2007”) and practised by the
Group, with specific reference given to the relevant provisions of the Code.

THE CODE
The Code is divided into four main sections:
1.

Board Matters

2.

Remuneration Matters

3.

Accountability and Audit

4.

Communications with Shareholders

1.

Board Matters
Principle 1:
The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Every company should be led and controlled by an effective Board to enable the Company, its shareholders and other
stakeholders to achieve their respective objectives.
The principal functions of the Board are:
1.

reviewing and approving corporate strategies, annual budgets and financial plans and monitoring the
organisational performance towards them;

2.

reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s internal controls, risk management systems, and the
financial information reporting systems;

3.

ensuring the Group’s compliance to laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal codes of
conduct;

4.

approving nominations to the Board of Directors by the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and endorsing the
appointments of the management team and external auditors;

5.

reviewing and approving the remuneration packages for the Board and key executives; and

6.

ensuring accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with shareholders.

LifeBrandz Ltd
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Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision include those involving corporate plans and
budgets, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate and financial restructuring, share issuances, dividends,
other returns to shareholders and interested person transactions.
The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to 3 sub-committees (Audit, Nominating, and Remuneration), the
details of which are set out below. These committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating
procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. These committees have the authority to examine particular issues
and report back to the Board with a fair recommendation. The ultimate responsibility for the final decision on all matters,
however, lies with the entire Board. The effectiveness of each committee is also constantly reviewed by the Board.
The Board meets at least 4 times a year, with additional meetings convened as necessary. Board meetings are held
in Singapore and the directors attend the meetings regularly. The matrix on the frequency of the meetings and the
attendance of directors at these meetings is set out on page 27.
Principle 2:
Board’s Composition and Balance
There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement on
corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals should be
allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.
The Board of Directors comprises six Directors, two of whom are independent directors. All Board members bring
about an independent judgement and diversified knowledge and experiences to bear on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standards of conduct. A brief description on the background of each Director is presented
on “Board of Directors” section on page 6.
The criteria for independence is determined based on the definition as provided in the Code. The Board considers an
“independent” Director as one who has no relationship with the Company, its related companies or its officers that could
interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgement
with a view to the best interests of the Group. As independent Directors make up one third of the Board, no individual
or group is able to dominate the Board’s decision-making process.
The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC.
The Board examines its size to satisfy that it is an appropriate size for effective decision making, taking into account the
nature and scope of the Company’s operations. The NC is of the view that the current board size of six Directors is
appropriate.
Principle 3:
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board and the
executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no
one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.
The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company is Mr. Lee Shieh-Peen Clement. There is
no appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors. Although Mr. Lee Shieh-Peen Clement is the CEO of the Company,
he has been elected to chair at each Board of Directors Meeting and bears responsibility for the conduct of the Board.
There is no concentration of power as the Group is run objectively on a transparent basis as the Board feels that there
is adequate representation of independent and Non-Executive Directors (more than 1/3) on the Board.
As a general rule, board papers are sent to the Directors in advance in order for the Directors to be adequately prepared
for the meeting. Management staff who have prepared the papers are invited to present the papers at the meeting.
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Principle 4:
Board Membership
There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. As a principle of
good corporate governance, all Directors should be required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at
regular intervals.
Nominating Committee

The NC comprises three members, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, are independent. The members of the
NC are:
•

Mr. Lee Soon Kie

Chairman and Independent Director

•

Mr. Irwin Lim Kee Way

Independent Director

•

Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

Non-Executive Director

The NC has adopted the written terms of reference which describes the responsibilities of NC and the proceedings at
NC meetings.
The NC’s principal responsibilities are as follows:
(a)

recommend to the Board on all board appointments and re-appointments;

(b)

determine independence of the Directors annually;

(c)

determine whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as Director of the
Company;

(d)

evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole; and

(e)

oversee the management development and succession planning of the Group.

In determining the independence of the Directors, the NC has developed a Return on Independence which is required
to be completed by all Directors on an annual basis and submitted to NC for its review.
Election and re-election
New Directors are appointed by way of a board resolution, following their nomination by the NC. In accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association, these new Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to election by
shareholders at the first opportunity after their appointment. The Articles of Association of the Company also require
that one-third of the Board retire from office at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). Accordingly, the Directors submit
themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every 3 years.
Policy on external appointments
The Group recognises that its Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other
companies and that the exposure to such non-executive duties can broaden the experience and knowledge of its
Executive Directors which will benefit the Group. Executive Directors are therefore allowed to accept non-executive
appointments as long as these are with non-competing companies, are not likely to lead to any conflict of interest and
their commitment to the Group is not compromised.
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Principle 5:
Board Performance
There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole.
The NC assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Committees of the Board on an annual basis. In
this aspect, both quantitative and qualitative criteria were adopted. The quantitative performance criteria include, growth
in turnover and profitability, return on assets and profitability on capital employed. The qualitative measures include the
effectiveness of the Board in its monitoring role and the attainment of the strategic and long-term objectives set by the
Board. For this purpose, the NC has developed a checklist to assist in its assessment of the Board’s effectiveness at
least once every year.
Principle 6:
Access to Information
In order to fulfill their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely
information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.
The Board has separate and independent access to senior management and the Company Secretary at all times.
Requests for information from the Board are dealt with promptly by management. The Board is informed of all material
events and transactions as and when they occur. The management provides the Board with quarterly reports of the
Group’s performance. The management also consults with Board members regularly whenever necessary and
appropriate. The Board is issued with board papers timely and prior to Board meetings. Analysts’ reports on the
Company are also forwarded to the Directors on an on-going basis as and when received.
The Company Secretary attends all board meetings. The Company Secretary administers, attends and prepares minutes
of Board meetings, and assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and reviewed so that the
Board functions effectively and the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the relevant rules and
regulations applicable to the Company are complied with.
The Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, can as a group or individually, when deemed fit, direct the Company to appoint
professional advisers to render professional advice.

2.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
The Company adopted the objective as recommended by the Code to determine the remuneration for a Director so as
to ensure that the Company attracts and retains the Directors needed to run the Group successfully. The component
parts of remuneration are structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance in the case of
Executive Directors. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration reflects the level of responsibilities
undertaken by the particular Non-Executive Director concerned.
Principle 7:
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors. No
Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.
Remuneration Procedure
The Code endorses, as good practice, a formal framework for fixing the remuneration packages of individuals with a
Remuneration Committee making recommendations to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three members, all non-executive with a majority of whom, including the
Chairman, are independent. The members of the RC are:
•

Mr. Lee Soon Kie

Chairman and Independent Director

•

Mr. Irwin Lim Kee Way

Independent Director

•

Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

Non-Executive Director

The RC has adopted the written terms of reference which describes the responsibilities of RC and the proceedings at
RC meetings.
The RC’s principal responsibilities are as follows:
(a)

approve the structure of the compensation programme for Directors and senior management to ensure that the
programme is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate senior management of the required quality
to run the Company successfully;

(b)

to review and recommend the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, CEO and key executives of the
Company annually;

(c)

oversee and review the administration of the LifeBrandz Employees Share Option (“ESOS”) as defined in the
option scheme. Any matter pertaining to the ESOS and any dispute and uncertainty as to the interpretation of
the ESOS, any rule, regulation or procedure thereunder or any rights under the ESOS shall be determined by the
RC; and

(d)

review the appropriateness of compensation for Non-Executive Directors including but not limited to Directors’
fees, allowances and share options.

Principle 8:
Level and Mix of Remuneration
The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors needed to run the Company
successfully but companies should avoid paying more for this purpose. A proportion of the remuneration, especially that
of executive directors, should be linked to performance.
Principle 9:
Disclosure on Remuneration
Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the
procedure for setting remuneration, in the Company's annual report.
The RC recommends to the Board the framework of executive remuneration and the remuneration package for each
Executive Director. In its deliberations, the RC will take into consideration industry practices and norms in compensation
in addition to the Company’s relative performance in the industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The
remuneration packages recommended by the RC are ultimately approved by the Board. No Director is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.
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Remuneration package
The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff comprising a fixed and variable component. The fixed component
is in the form of a base salary. The variable component is in the form of a variable bonus which is linked to the Group’s
performance as well as the individual’s performance which is assessed based on their respective key performance
indicators allocated to them. With effect from the new financial year, the variable component will also comprise the
grant of the options to staff under ESOS. This seeks to align the interests of staff with that of the shareholders. Staff
appraisals are conducted once every year.
The remuneration package of Directors and key management personnel includes the following:
(a)

Basic salary
The basic salary (inclusive of statutory employer’s contributions to Central Provident Fund) for each Executive
Director is recommended by the RC, taking into account the performance of the individual, the inflationary rate
and the information from independent sources on the rates of salary for similar positions in a selected group of
comparable organizations.

(b)

Fees
Directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising basic fees and takes into
account factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of these Directors. Executive Directors do
not receive directors’ fees. The payment of fees to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval at the annual
general meeting of the Company.

(c)

Bonus scheme
The Group operates a bonus scheme for all employees. The criteria for the scheme is the level of profit achieved
against targets together with an assessment of corporate and individual’s performance.

(d)

Share options
The Group operates a share option scheme for all employees, including Executive Directors. The Company has
not granted any options to the employees under the ESOS. With effect from the new financial year, ESOS will
form part of the variable component of the employees’ remuneration.

Remuneration package
Directors’ Remuneration
A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration payable for FY2007 is as follows:

$500,000 and above
$250,000 to below $500,000
Below $250,000
Total
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2006

–
–
6
6

–
1
5
6
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Name
Lee Shieh–Peen Clement
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lee Soon Kie
Irwin Lim Kee Way
Michael Wong C. K.

Remuneration Band
S$

Salary
%

Bonus
%

<$250,000
<$250,000
<$250,000
<$250,000
<$250,000
<$250,000

100
100
–
–
–
97

–
–
–
–
–
–

*Directors’ Fees
%
–
–
100
100
100
3**

Total
%
100
100
100
100
100
100

*

The remuneration in the form of Directors’ Fee is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

**

Mr. Michael Wong C. K. has resigned as an Executive Director on 28 April 2007 and has been appointed as a
Non-Executive Director on the same day, and the proposed directors’ fee is relating to his services as a NonExecutive Director.

Remuneration of Key Employees
The table below shows the range of gross remuneration received by the Group’s top five executives (excluding Executive
Directors) in the Company. The Company does not have any employee who is an immediate family member of a
Director or CEO whose remuneration in FY2007 exceeded $150,000.
No. of Executives in remuneration bands
S$250,000 to below S$500,000
Below S$250,000

3.

2007

2006

–
5

–
5

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Principle 10:
Accountability
The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management is accountable to the Board.
In presenting the annual financial statements, and quarterly or yearly announcement to shareholders, the directors aim
to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors have:
•

selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

•

made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

ensured that all applicable accounting standards have been followed; and

•

prepared financial statements on a going concern basis as the Directors have a reasonable expectation, having
made enquiries, that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future.
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Principle 11:
Audit Committee
The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority and
duties.
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three members, all of whom are independent and non-executive. At the date of
this report, the Audit Committee comprises the following members:
•

Mr. Irwin Lim Kee Way

Chairman and Independent Director

•

Mr. Lee Soon Kie

Independent Director

•

Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

Non-Executive Director

The AC is chaired by Mr. Irwin Lim Kee Way, who is the Group Chief Financial Officer of United Test and Assembly
Center Ltd. Mr. Lim holds a Masters of Science in management from Imperial College, University of London, and a
Bachelor of Science in Industrial Engineering from Columbia University. The other members of the AC have many years
of experience in business management, corporate finance, fund management and investment banking. The NC is of the
view that the members of the AC have the necessary expertise and experience to discharge its functions.
The AC has adopted the written terms of reference which describes the responsibilities of AC and the proceedings at
AC meetings.
The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, including the
following:
(a)

reviews with the external auditors of the Company, their audit plan, evaluation of the internal accounting controls,
audit reports and any matters which the external auditors wish to discuss (in the absence of management, where
necessary)

(b)

ensures co-operation is given by the Company’s management to the external auditors;

(c)

reviews the announcement of year-end results to SGX-ST;

(d)

reviews the annual financial statements and the Auditors’ report on the Company’s annual financial statements
before they are presented to the Board, focusing on:

(e)

•

going concern assumptions;

•

compliance with accounting standards and regulatory requirements;

•

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

•

significant issues arising from the audit; and

•

major judgemental areas.

reviews with the management and the external auditors the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls, business and service systems and practices;
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(f)

monitors and reviews related and interested party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise
within the Group. The Committee is also required to ensure that the Directors report such transactions annually
to shareholders in the annual report;

(g)

considers the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditors;

(h)

reviews significant risks or exposures that exist and assess the steps taken by management to minimise such
risks to the Company; and

(i)

any other functions which may be agreed by the AC and the Board.

The AC has the power to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within the AC’s scope of responsibility.
The AC is authorised to obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary in the discharge of its
responsibilities. Such expenses are to be borne by the Company.
The AC has full access to and co-operation of the Company’s management and has full discretion to invite any Director
or executive officer to attend the meetings, and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions.
The AC, having reviewed the range and value of non-audit services performed by the external auditors, Messrs Ernst
& Young, and being satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and
objectivity of the external auditors, are pleased to confirm their re-nomination.
Principle 12:
Internal Controls
The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the
shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.
It is the opinion of the Board that, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls maintained
by the Company’s management and that was in place throughout the financial year and up to the date of this report
provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial misstatements or losses, and includes the
safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance
with appropriate legislation, regulations and best practices, and the identification and containment of financial,
operational and compliance risks. The Board notes that all internal control systems contain inherent limitations and no
system of internal controls could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement
in decision-making, human error losses, fraud or other irregularities.
Principle 13:
Internal Audit
The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.
The Company outsources its internal audit function to TransFingo Pte Ltd for the financial year ended 31 July 2007, an
external professional firm, who reports directly to the Chairman of AC and administratively to the CEO. The objective of
the internal audit function is to determine whether the Group’s risk management, control and governance processes, as
designed by the Company, is adequate and functioning in the required manner. The internal auditors have identified the
Group’s main business processes and developed an audit plan that covers the main business process.
The AC reviews the internal audit function annually to ensure its adequacy.
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4.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 14:
Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.
The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In line with continuous obligations of the Company pursuant to the
SGX-ST’s Listing Rules, the Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be equally informed of all major developments
impacting the Group.
Information is disseminated to shareholders on a timely basis through:
•

SGXNET Systems and news release

•

Annual Reports prepared and issued to all shareholders

•

The Company’s website at www.lifebrandz.com and investor relations site, Shareinvestor, at which shareholders
can access information on the Group

Results and annual reports are announced or issued within the mandatory period. The Group has an investor relation
team which communicates with its investors on a regular basis and attends to their queries. All shareholders of the
Company will receive a copy of the annual report and the notice of the Annual General Meeting. The notice is also
advertised in newspaper and made available at the SGX-ST’s and the Company’s websites.
Principle 15:
Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at Annual General Meetings and allow shareholders the
opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.
At the Company’s annual general meetings, shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their views and ask Directors
or management questions regarding the Company. The Chairman of the AC, RC and NC will normally be present at all
annual general meetings to answer any questions relating to the work of these committees.
Dealing in Securities
In line with the Best Practices Guide issued by the SGX-ST, the Company has in place a policy prohibiting share dealings
by Directors and employees of the Company for the period of two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s
financial statements for each of the first three quarters of its financial year, or one month prior to the announcement of
the Company’s half yearly and yearly results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results.
Material Contracts
There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest of the
CEO, any Director, or controlling shareholder for FY2007.
Interested Person Transactions (“IPTs”)
The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely
manner to the AC and those transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial to the interests
of the shareholders.
There have been no IPTs equal to or exceeding S$100,000 each in value for FY2007 .
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Summary of Committee Meetings

The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the FY2007 and the attendance of each Director
where relevant is as follows:

No. of meetings held

Board

Audit
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

4

4

1

1

4
4
4
4
3
4

N.A.
N.A.
4
4
3
N.A.

N.A.
1
N.A.
1
1
N.A.

N.A.
1
N.A.
1
1
N.A.

No. of meetings attended by respective directors:
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lee Soon Kie
Irwin Lim Kee Way
Michael Wong C. K.

Note: In line with the new requirement of the Corporate Governance which came into effect on 1 January 2007,
Mr. Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh stepped down as a Member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating
Committee. Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III was appointed to replace Mr. Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh on 23 July 2007.
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DIRECTORS'
REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
The directors hereby present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
LifeBrandz Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statements
of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2007.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lee Soon Kie
Lim Kee Way Irwin
Michael Wong C.K.

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object is to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures
The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares of the Company, as
stated below:
Holdings registered in name
of director or nominee
Name of directors

Holdings in which a director is
deemed to have an interest

At
31.7.2007

At
1.8.2006

At
31.7.2007

At
1.8.2006

38,440,000
60,688,000
−
200,000
57,494,800

60,100,000
82,348,000
−
200,000
84,174,800

−
−
14,020,800
−
−

−
−
38,320,800
−
−

The Company
Ordinary shares
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lee Soon Kie
Michael Wong C.K.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 August 2007
except for Mr. Michael Wong C.K. who disposed off 5,580,000 shares on 6 August 2007.
Except as disclosed in this report, no other director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares or
debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment if
later, or at the end of the financial year.
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Directors’ contractual benefits
Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with
the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial
interest.

Share options
There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiary.
No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the
Company or its subsidiary.
There were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiary under option at the end of the financial year.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Companies Act. The functions performed are detailed in the
Corporate Governance Statement.

Auditors
Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

On behalf of the board of directors,

Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Director

Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Director

Singapore
12 October 2007
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STATEMENT
BY DIRECTORS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
We, Lee Shieh-Peen Clement and Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh, being two of the directors of LifeBrandz Ltd, do hereby state that, in
the opinion of the directors,
(i)

the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated profit and loss account, statements of changes in equity, and
consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 July 2007, and of the results of the business, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date,
and

(ii)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors,

Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Director

Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Director

Singapore
12 October 2007
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF LIFEBRANDZ LTD

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of LifeBrandz Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 July 2007, the statement of changes
in equity of the Group and the Company and profit and loss account and cash flow statement of the Group for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The financial statements as at 31 July
2006 were audited by another firm of auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, whose report dated 18 October 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the financial statements.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion,
(i)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 July 2007
and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year
ended on that date; and

(ii)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of
the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
12 October 2007
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
Group
Notes

2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Revenue
Other gains

3

Expenses
Inventories and consumables used
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment
Employee benefits
Advertising, media and entertainment
Rental on operating leases
Transportation
Finance
Licence and permits
Legal and professional fees
Contract services
Others
Changes in inventories of finished goods

4
6

7

37,434
3,064

17,951
3,226

40,498

21,177

(8,725)
(3,787)
(12,231)
(4,899)
(4,403)
(68)
(349)
(501)
(922)
(1,205)
(3,724)
502

(4,171)
(1,295)
(4,562)
(1,596)
(1,024)
(53)
(391)
(69)
(834)
(713)
(1,592)
288

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

8

186
–

5,165
(219)

Profit from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries

9
9

186
(2,143)
17

4,946
(24,775)
(1,667)

Loss for the year

(1,940)

(21,496)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

(1,692)
(248)

(21,924)
428

(1,940)

(21,496)

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to the
equity holders of the Company (expressed in cents per share)
– Basic and diluted

10

0.06

0.74

Losses per share for loss from discontinued operations attributable to the
equity holders of the Company (expressed in cents per share)
– Basic and diluted

10

(0.32)

(4.32)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE
SHEETS

AS AT 31 JULY 2007
Group

Company

Notes

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

11
12
13
14

16,849
–
–
880

8,233
–
–
991

116
1,000
3,200
–

371
1,000
3,300
–

17,729

9,224

4,316

4,671

929
791
1,597
15,571

1,201
537
1,290
13,902

5,770
–
791
13,238

2,964
–
322
7,208

18,888

16,930

19,799

10,494

7,879
4
4,992
–

4,181
4
5,973
1,600

704
4
3,522
–

531
4
2,917
1,600

12,875

11,758

4,230

5,052

6,013

5,172

15,569

5,442

457
219

2,083
219

212
–

2,083
–

23,066

12,094

19,673

8,030

42,021
(19,335)
–

29,108
(17,643)
1

42,021
(22,348)
–

29,108
(21,078)
–

Minority interest

22,686
380

11,466
628

19,673
–

8,030
–

Total equity

23,066

12,094

19,673

8,030

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Loan to a subsidiary
Investments in subsidiaries
Intangible assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Inventories – finished goods at cost
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

15
16
17

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provision for taxation
Borrowings
Provision for other liabilities

18
19

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred taxation

19
8

Equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company
Share capital
Accumulated losses
Foreign currency translation reserve

20

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Share capital
(Note 20)
$’000

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
$’000

Retained
earnings/
(accumulated
losses)
$’000

Minority
interest
$’000

Total
$’000

29,108

1

(17,643)

628

12,094

Net loss for the financial year

–

–

(1,692)

(248)

(1,940)

Total recognised losses for the financial year

–

–

(1,692)

(248)

(1,940)

Issuance of shares
Share issue expenses
Release on disposal of subsidiaries

14,030
(1,117)
–

–
–
(1)

–
–
–

–
–
–

14,030
(1,117)
(1)

Balance at 31 July 2007

42,021

–

(19,335)

380

23,066

Balance at 1 August 2005

29,108

(9)

4,897

–

33,996

Balance at 1 August 2006

Net (loss)/gain for the financial year
Net loss not recognised in profit and loss account
– currency translation differences

–

–

(21,924)

428

(21,496)

–

(5)

–

–

(5)

Total recognised (losses)/gains for the financial
year
Release on disposal of subsidiaries
Dividend relating to 2005 paid
Minority interest

–
–
–
–

(5)
15
–
–

(21,924)
–
(616)
–

428
–
–
200

(21,501)
15
(616)
200

29,108

1

(17,643)

628

12,094

Balance at 31 July 2006

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

(1,940)

(21,283)

4,038
–
24
338
375
–
(226)
349
–
(17)
–
2,941

1,900
267
–
–
50
(20)
(305)
616
87
1,667
(1,800)
(18,821)

(707)
373
(565)
–
2,327
4,369
–
4,369

43
13,687
1,996
1,600
1,681
186
(1,463)
(1,277)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of franchises and licences
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary
Net cash flow from disposals of subsidiaries (Note 17)
Net cash used in investing activities

(12,543)
3
(398)
216
–
64
(12,658)

(9,080)
106
(686)
305
2,000
(2,751)
(10,106)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Placement in bank deposits pledged as security
Factoring charges and interest expense paid
Share issue expenses paid
Dividends paid to group shareholders
Net cash generated from financing activities

14,030
1,000
(3,606)
(520)
(349)
(1,117)
–
9,438

–
9,114
(1,658)
(505)
(616)
–
(616)
5,719

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year (Note 17)

1,149
13,902
–
15,051

(5,664)
19,066
(5)
13,397

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment losses of intangibles
Provision for doubtful debts
Provision for stock obsolescence and finished goods/spoilage written-off
Property, plant and equipment written-off
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Factoring charges and interest expense
Franchise fee written-off
(Gain)/loss on disposals of subsidiaries
Exceptional income
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from disposals of subsidiaries
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Provision for other liabilities
Trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Net cash generated from/(used in)operating activities

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
1.

Corporate information
LifeBrandz Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore. The Company is
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 123 Penang Road, #03-12 Regency
House, Singapore 238465.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the Group are lifestyle and
entertainment business.

2.

Significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Singapore
Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars ($ or SGD) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand ($’000) except when otherwise indicated.

2.2

Changes in accounting policy
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company are consistent with those used
in the previous financial year, except for the changes in accounting policies discussed below:
(a)

Adoption of new Interpretations of Financial Reporting Standards (“INT FRS”)
On 1 August 2006, the adoption of the following new INT FRS are mandatory for the Group and there is no
impact on the Group and the Company:
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
INT FRS 107

:

INT FRS 108
INT FRS 109

:
:

Applying the Restatement Approach under FRS 29, Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
Scope of FRS 102, Share-based Payment
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
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NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2

Changes in accounting policy (cont’d)
(b)

FRS and Interpretations of Financial Reporting Standards (“INT FRS”) not yet effective
The Group and the Company have not applied the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but not yet
effective:
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
FRS 1

:

FRS 23
FRS 40
FRS 107
FRS 108
INT FRS 110
INT FRS 111
INT FRS 112

:
:
:
:
:
:
:

Amendment to FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial Statements
(Capital Disclosures)
Borrowing Costs
Investment Property
Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Operating Segments
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Service Concession Arrangements

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

January 2007
January 2009
January 2007
January 2007
January 2009
November 2006
March 2007
January 2008

The directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to the financial
statements in the period of initial application, except for FRS 107 and the amendment to FRS 1 as indicated
below:
FRS 107, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Amendment to FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial
Statements (Capital Disclosures)
FRS 107 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the
disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments,
including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity
analysis to market risk. The amendment to FRS 1 requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users
of the financial statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. The
Group will apply FRS 107 and the amendment to FRS 1 from annual period beginning 1 August 2007.
2.3

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial statements.
They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, are discussed below:
Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining
the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. In addition, the Group uses the group relief system
for the purpose of transferring current year unabsorbed capital allowance and the current year unabsorbed tax losses
of certain subsidiary companies against the current year taxable profits of other subsidiary companies belonging to the
Group. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
The carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables as at 31 July 2007 was $4,000 (2006: $4,000).

2.4

Revenue recognition
Revenue for the Group comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
rendering of services, net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.
Revenue is recognised as follows:
(a)

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Group has delivered the products to the customers, the
customers have accepted the products and collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b)

Rendering of services
Revenue from services is recognised over the period in which the services are rendered, by reference to
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of actual service provided as a proportion of total
services to be performed.

(c)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(d)

Rental income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5

Group accounting for subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest. Please refer to note 2.7(a) for the accounting policy on goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group to the date on which that
control ceases. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.
Minority interest is that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to interests
which are not owned directly or indirectly by the Group. It is measured at the minorities’ share of the fair value of the
subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition by the Group and the minorities’ share of changes
in equity since the date of acquisition, except when the losses applicable to the minority in a subsidiary exceed the
minority interest in the equity of that subsidiary. In such cases, the excess and further losses applicable to the minority
are attributed to the equity holders of the Company, unless the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make
good the losses. When that subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the profits applicable to the minority are attributed
to the equity holders of the Company until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the equity holders of
the Company has been recovered.
Please refer to Note 2.9 for the Company’s accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries.

2.6

Property, plant and equipment
(a)

Measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (Note 2.10).
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and
equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring
or using the asset. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow
hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(b)

Depreciation
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using a straight-line method to allocate the
depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Useful lives
Computer equipment
Office and operating equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvement and renovation
Plant and equipment

3 years
3 years
Shorter of 6 years or the lease term
Shorter of 6 years or the lease term
Shorter of 6 years or the lease term

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate,
at each balance sheet date.
(c)

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of
performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably
measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it is
incurred.

(d)

Disposal
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
its carrying amount is taken to the profit and loss account.

2.7

Intangible assets
(a)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair value of the Group’s share
of their identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (Note 2.10).
Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Intangible assets (cont’d)
(b)

Franchises and licences
Acquired franchises and licences are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses (Note 2.10). Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the franchise/
licence over the term of the franchise/licence.

2.8

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are taken to the profit and loss account over the period of borrowing using the effective interest
method.

2.9

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses (Note 2.10) in the Company’s balance
sheet.
On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the
profit and loss account.

2.10

Impairment of assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries are reviewed for impairment whenever
there is any indication that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e.
the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount of
impairment loss.
For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis
unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs to.
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss
account unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount
of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is
recognised in the profit and loss account, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal
is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was
previously recognised in profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment is also recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.11

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
(a)

Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:
z

The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

z

The Group retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
or

z

The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of (a) the
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (b) any cumulative
gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the profit and loss account.
(b)

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the profit and loss account.

2.12 Investment in financial assets
The Group classifies its investments in financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention
of trading the receivable. They are included in current assets, except those maturing more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in trade and other
receivables on the balance sheet (Note 2.13).
2.13

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect amounts due according to original
terms of the receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of allowance
is recognised in the profit and loss account.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.14

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is taken to the
profit and loss account over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the balance sheet date are included in current
borrowings in the balance sheet even though the original term was for a period longer than 12 months and an
agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed after the balance sheet date and
before the financial statements are authorised for issue. Other borrowings due to be settled more than 12 months after
the balance sheet date are included in non-current borrowings in the balance sheet.

2.15

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

2.16

Fair value estimation
The carrying amounts of current receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.

2.17

Operating leases
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
are taken to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the
lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

2.18

Inventories
Inventories, comprising the finished goods, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
selling expenses.

2.19

Income taxes
(a)

Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

(b)

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if the deferred
income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.19

Income taxes (cont’d)
(b)

Deferred tax (cont’d)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(c)

Sales tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:
z

Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and

z

Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
2.20

Provisions for other liabilities and charges
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where as a result of past
event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

2.21

Employee benefits
(a)

Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into separate entities such as Central Provident Fund, and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further contributions if any of the funds does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to
employee service in the current and preceding financial years. The Group’s contributions to defined contribution
plans are recognised in the financial year to which they relate.

(b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.22

Functional and foreign currency
(a)

Functional currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency.

(b)

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit and loss account.

(c)

Foreign currency translation
The results and financial position of group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:
–

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the
balance sheet;

–

Income and expenses for each profit and loss account are translated at average exchange rate; and

–

All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
(d)

Consolidation adjustments
On consolidation, currency translation differences arising from the net investment in foreign operations, and
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such currency translation differences are
recognised in the profit and loss account as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

2.23

Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged
in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments. There is only one business and
geographical segment in the current financial year. As such, no segment reporting is presented.

2.24

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are included in borrowings on the balance sheet. Restricted cash and deposits are excluded.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.25

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments
are taken to equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.26

Dividend
Interim dividends are recorded during the financial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are recorded
during the financial year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

2.27

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that has been disposed of and

3.

(a)

represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

(b)

is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations; or

(c)

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Revenue and other gains (net)
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Sale of goods
Rendering of services

26,607
10,827

16,759
1,192

Total revenue

37,434

17,951

(1)
226
2,801
38

6
233
1,147
40

3,064

1,426

Gain on disposal of 20% equity interest in a subsidiary

–

1,800

Total exceptional gain

–

1,800

40,498

21,177

Miscellaneous gains (net):
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain – net
Interest income from short-term bank deposits
Service charge surplus
Others
Total miscellaneous gains (net)
Exceptional gain:

LifeBrandz Ltd

46

Annual Report 2007

NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
4.

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss of goodwill

5.

508
3,279
–

272
988
35

3,787

1,295

Directors’ remuneration
The following information relates to remunerations of directors of the Company during the financial year.
The number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands as required under the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited Manual is set out below:

Number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands:
$250,000 to below $500,000
below $250,000

6.

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

–
6

1
5

6

6

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Employee benefits

(restated)
Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund
Other benefits
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7.

Finance expense
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Interest expense on bank borrowings

8.

349

391

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Income tax expense
Major components of taxation for the year ended 31 July are:

(restated)
Current tax:
Overprovision in respect of previous years from discontinued operations

–

(6)

Deferred tax:
Current year from continuing operations

–

219

–

213

The reconciliation of the tax expense and the product of profit/(loss) before taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rate
is as follows:
2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Profit before taxation from continuing operations
Loss before taxation from discontinued operations

Tax expense at the applicable tax rate of 18% (2006: 20%)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of income that are not taxable
Utilisation of tax losses under group relief
Deferred tax – not recognised
Deferred tax assets not recognised from discontinued operations
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption
Others
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(26,448)

(1,940)

(21,283)

(349)
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–
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224
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(4,257)
399
(360)
–
–
4,454
(42)
25

–
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8.

Income tax expense (cont’d)
On 15 February 2007, the Singapore Government announced a revision in the Singapore corporate tax rate from 20%
to 18%. This change takes effect from Year of Assessment 2008 and has been reflected in the tax reconciliation above.
Deferred taxation as at 31 July relates to the following:
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Deferred tax liability:
Differences in depreciation

579

221

Deferred tax assets:
Unabsorbed tax losses
Unutilised capital allowances

(360)
–

–
(2)

219

219

219

219

Net deferred tax liability

During the financial year, in relation to the Singapore group relief system, the Company utilised tax losses and capital
allowances of approximately $213,000 (2006: $5,667,000) and $357,000 (2006: $Nil) respectively, to set off the
assessable income of certain companies within the Group. As at 31 July 2007, the Group has unabsorbed tax losses
of $360,000 (2006: $Nil) and unabsorbed capital allowances of $Nil (2006: $Nil) available for offset against future taxable
income subject to compliance with the relevant rules and procedures and agreement of tax authorities.

9.

Discontinued operations
In July 2007, the Company had entered into the Sale Agreement for the sale by the Company of its entire shareholding
interest in Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd. and N-Inc Pte. Ltd. (“divested subsidiaries”).
As the divested subsidiaries do not fall under the core business of the Group which is the lifestyle and entertainment
business, the disposal will enable the Company to focus its resources on the better performing lifestyle business and its
regional expansions.
In accordance with FRS 105, the results of Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd. and N-Inc Pte. Ltd. have been classified as
discontinued operations and presented separately in the profit and loss account for the financial year ended 31 July
2007. The prior year’s figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
In last financial year, following the approval of the Board of Directors and the majority shareholders and completion of
sales and purchase agreement on 28 July 2006 to sell LifePharm Pte. Ltd., LifePharm Asia Ltd. and Thainutri Co., Ltd.
(comprising of the Group’s beauty/wellness business segment), the results of these entities are presented separately
as “Discontinued operations” in the profit and loss account for year ended 31 July 2006. Therefore, the results of
discontinued operations for year ended 31 July 2006 will include the results for LifePharm Pte. Ltd., LifePharm Asia Ltd,
Thainutri Co., Ltd, Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd. and N-Inc Pte. Ltd..
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9.

Discontinued operations (cont’d)
An analysis of the results of discontinued operations is as follows:
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000
(restated)

Revenue
Expenses

1,287
(3,430)

4,784
(29,565)

Loss before tax from discontinued operations
Income tax

(2,143)
–

(24,781)
6

Loss after tax from discontinued operations
Gain/(loss) from disposal of subsidiaries

(2,143)
17

(24,775)
(1,667)

(2,126)

(26,442)

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

The impact of the discontinued operations on the cash flows of the Group is as follows:

(restated)
Operating cash flows
Investing cash flows
Financing cash flows

1,918
(1,953)
–

(15,850)
15,636
2,274

(35)

2,060

Net cash (outflow)/inflow

10.

Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as basic earnings/(loss) per share as there are no dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
Continuing operations
2007
2006
$’000
$’000

Discontinued operations
2007
2006
$’000
$’000

(restated)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to members
of LifeBrandz Ltd
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for basic earnings per share
computation
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per
share)

Total
2007
$’000

(restated)

2006
$’000
(restated)

434

4,518

(2,126)

(26,442)

(1,692)

(21,924)

673,000

612,000

673,000

612,000

673,000

612,000

0.06

0.74

(0.32)

(4.32)

(0.26)

(3.58)

LifeBrandz Ltd

50

Annual Report 2007

NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
11.

Property, plant and equipment

Computer
equipment
$’000

Office
and
operating
equipment
$’000

397
438
–
(156)

505
134
(56)
(39)

68
933
(15)
(20)

(9)

(304)

At 31 July 2006 and 1 August 2006
Additions
Written-off
Reclassifications
Disposals
Disposal arising from discontinued
operations

670
356
(53)
–
–

At 31 July 2007

Leasehold
improvement
and
renovation
$’000

Plant
and
equipment
$’000

Renovation
in progress
$’000

Total
$’000

521
4,770
–
(110)

–
2,209
(1)
–

–
596
–
–

1,491
9,080
(72)
(325)

–

–

–

–

(313)

240
259
(76)
–
–

966
1,337
(69)
104
–

5,181
8,048
(573)
476
–

2,208
2,543
(54)
16
(3)

596
–
–
(596)
–

9,861
12,543
(825)
–
(3)

(32)

(4)

–

–

(2)

–

(38)

941

419

2,338

13,132

4,708

–

21,538

157
188
–
(96)

221
180
(22)
(23)

28
130
–
(15)

161
823
–
(105)

–
261
–
–

–
–
–
–

567
1,582
(22)
(239)

(9)

(251)

–

–

–

–

(260)

At 31 July 2006 and 1 August 2006
Depreciation
Written-off
Disposal arising from discontinued
operations

240
287
(31)

105
126
(32)

143
365
(30)

879
2,053
(328)

261
699
(29)

–
–
–

1,628
3,530
(450)

(16)

(2)

–

–

(1)

–

(19)

At 31 July 2007

480

197

478

2,604

930

–

4,689

Net book value
At 31 July 2007

461

222

1,860

10,528

3,778

–

16,849

At 31 July 2006

430

135

823

4,302

1,947

596

8,233

Group

Cost
At 1 August 2005
Additions
Written-off
Disposals
Disposal arising from discontinued
operations

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 August 2005
Depreciation
Written-off
Disposals
Disposal arising from discontinued
operations
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11.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Computer
equipment
$’000

Office
and
operating
equipment
$’000

Furniture
and
fixtures
$’000

Leasehold
improvement
and
renovation
$’000

Total
$’000

–
91

–
64

–
16

–
222

–
393

At 31 July 2006 and 1 August 2006
Additions
Transfer to related company

91
5
(7)

64
–
–

16
–
–

222
1
–

393
6
(7)

At 31 July 2007

89

64

16

223

392

–
5

–
4

–
1

–
12

–
22

At 31 July 2006 and 1 August 2006
Depreciation
Transfer to related company

5
58
(2)

4
43
–

1
11
–

12
144
–

22
256
(2)

At 31 July 2007

61

47

12

156

276

Net book value
At 31 July 2007

28

17

4

67

116

At 31 July 2006

86

60

15

210

371

Company

Cost
At 1 August 2005
Additions

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 August 2005
Depreciation

12.

Loan to a subsidiary
Loan to a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment.
The carrying amount of the loan to a subsidiary approximates its fair value and is denominated in Singapore Dollar.

13.

Investments in subsidiaries
Company

Investments at cost
Less: Impairment loss
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13.

Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name of companies

Country of
incorporation
and place of
business

Principal activities

Proportion
(%) of
ownership
interest

Cost of
investment
by the
Company

2007
%

2006
%

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Singapore

100

100

*

*

Dormant

British Virgin
Islands

100

100

*

*

Intellectual property licensing
and management

British Virgin
Islands

100

100

*

*

Intellectual property licensing
and management

Mauritius

100

100

*

*

Brand management, marketing,
sales, distribution and subfranchise of fashion products

Singapore

–

100

–

200

Sales and distribution of fashion
products

Singapore

–

100

–

300

Lifestyle and entertainment
related business

Singapore

100

100

2,000

2,000

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

100

100

200

200

Held by the Company
Brandz+ Pte. Ltd.

Brandzplus Inc

(a)

Design, layout and production
of graphics and web-marketing
info and production of all
marketing info and collaterals
and shared services

(c) (h)

Orientstar Group Limited

LB Investments Limited

Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd.

N-Inc Pte. Ltd.

(d)

Luminox Pte. Ltd.

Balcony Pte. Ltd.

(a)

(a)

(c)

(b)

(d)
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13.

Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name of companies

Country of
incorporation
and place of
business

Principal activities

Proportion
(%) of
ownership
interest

Cost of
investment
by the
Company

2007
%

2006
%

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Held by the Company (cont’d)
Palms Development Pte.
Ltd. (a) (e)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

100

100

200

–

Cannery Holding Pte.
Ltd. (a)

Investment holding

Singapore

80

80

800

800

3,200

3,500

Held by Cannery Holding
Pte. Ltd.
Cannery Leisure Pte. Ltd.

(a)

Ministry of Sound Pte.
Ltd. (a)
Mercier Group Pte. Ltd.

Tribeca Leisure Pte.
Ltd. (a) (g)
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
*

(a) (f)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

80

*

*

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

80

*

*

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

–

*

–

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

–

*

–

Audited by Ernst & Young, Singapore.
Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Mauritius.
Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.
On 23 July 2007, the Company has disposed its entire issued and paid up capital in Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd. and N-Inc Pte. Ltd..
On 7 November 2006, the Company has subscribed for 199,999 additional ordinary shares of $1 each in Palms Development
Pte Ltd..
On 4 September 2006, Cannery Holding Pte. Ltd. subscribed for 1 ordinary share of $1 in Mercier Group Pte. Ltd..
On 19 September 2006, Cannery Holding Pte. Ltd. subscribed for 1 ordinary share of $1 in Tribeca Leisure Pte. Ltd..
On 23 March 2007, the Company has changed the name of the subsidiary from LifePharm Inc to Brandzplus Inc.
denotes less than $1,000.

On 11 April 2007, the Company incorporated Tribeca Leisure (Macau) Limited. Shares amounting to MOP 24,000 (or
S$4,000) have been allocated to represent 96% of the share capital. The remaining 4% has been allocated to Brandz+
Pte Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary. As at 31 July 2007, no share has been issued by Tribeca Leisure (Macau) Limited.
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14.

Intangible assets
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

991
397
(508)
–
–

942
686
(318)
(87)
(232)

880

991

1,938
(1,058)

1,541
(550)

Net book value

880

991

Average remaining amortisation period (years)

1.8

1.3

Franchises and licenses:
Balance at beginning of financial year
Additions
Amortisation
Written-off
Impairment loss
Balance at end of financial year
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

15.

Trade and other receivables
Group
2007
$’000

Company
2006
$’000

2007
$’000

(restated)
Trade receivables:
Third parties
Subsidiaries

Other receivables:
Third parties
Subsidiaries
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables – related
companies

2006
$’000
(restated)

894
–

576
–

–
1,991

18
53

894

576

1,991

71

35
–

625
–

10
3,769

620
3,722

35

625

3,779

4,342

–

–

–

(1,449)

35

625

3,779

2,893

929

1,201

5,770

2,964

Other receivables from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Included in trade and other receivables for the Group are $Nil (2006: $25,000), and $Nil (2006: $32,000) denominated
in Euro dollar and Great Britain Pound respectively.
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16.

Other current assets
Group
2007
$’000

Company
2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

(restated)
Advance payments to property, plant and equipment
Prepayments
Deposits
Advance payments for intangible assets

(restated)

622
595
348
32

152
631
475
32

622
18
119
32

152
21
117
32

1,597

1,290

791

322

Included in other current assets for the Group are $253,000 (2006: $Nil), $Nil (2006: $100,000), $31,000 (2006: $Nil)
and $10,000 (2006: $Nil) denominated in Euro dollar, United States dollar, Great Britain Pound and Hong Kong dollar
respectively.

17.

Cash and cash equivalents
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term bank deposits

3,551
12,020

5,195
8,707

1,218
12,020

501
6,707

Cash and bank balances

15,571

13,902

13,238

7,208

Short-term bank deposits with financial institutions are denominated in Singapore Dollar and have an average maturity
of 3 weeks (2006: 2 weeks) from the end of the financial year with weighted average effective interest rate of 2.10% per
annum (2006: 2.8% per annum). A short-term bank deposit of $520,000 (2006: $505,000) is pledged to a bank as
security for bank borrowings.
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Cash and bank balances
Short-term bank deposit pledged as security

15,571
(520)

13,902
(505)

Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement

15,051

13,397

Disposals of subsidiaries
On 23 July 2007, the Company disposed of its 100% interest in Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd. and N-Inc Pte. Ltd. for a cash
consideration of $150,000. The Company has written-off $3,180,000 of debts payable by Dashing Diva Pte. Ltd. and
N-Inc Pte. Ltd. as a result of the disposal.
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17.

Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d)
The net assets and liabilities arising from the disposal of subsidiary companies and the cash flow effects of the disposal
were as follows:
Group
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Other current assets
Total assets

86
70
114
19
72
361

2,751
2,009
27
53
382
5,222

Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Total liabilities

228
–
228

2,107
1,600
3,707

Net identifiable assets disposed
Transfer from shareholders’ equity-currency translation differences
Goodwill arising from consolidation
Gain/(loss) on disposals
Cash proceeds from disposals
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries disposed
Net cash inflow/(outflow) on disposals

133
–
–
17
150
(86)
64

1,515
15
137
(1,667)
–*
(2,751)
(2,751)

* denotes less than $1,000.

18.

Trade and other payables
Group

Trade payables:
Third parties
Subsidiary
Other payables:
Third parties
Deferred revenue
Accrued operating expenses

Company

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

3,814
–
3,814

1,372
–
1,372

217
–
217

22
3
25

104
–
3,961
7,879

147
645
2,017
4,181

–
98
389
704

–
–
506
531

Included in the trade and other payables are $30,000 (2006: $Nil) denominated in Great Britain Pound.
LifeBrandz Ltd

57

Annual Report 2007

2006
$’000

NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
19.

Borrowings
Group

Company

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Current:
Bank borrowings

4,992

5,973

3,522

2,917

Non-current:
Bank borrowings

457

2,083

212

2,083

5,449

8,056

3,734

5,000

Total borrowings
(a)

Security granted
Bank borrowings of a subsidiary are secured by corporate guarantee undertaken by the Company. A charge is
made over short-term bank deposits of $520,000 (2006: $505,000) placed with a financial institution for a bank
borrowing granted to the Company.

(b)

Maturity of borrowings
Group

Less than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

Company

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

4,992
457

5,973
2,083

3,522
212

2,917
2,083

5,449

8,056

3,734

5,000

The current borrowings have an average maturity of 8 months (2006: 11 months) from the end of the financial
year.
(c)

Currency risk
The carrying amounts of total borrowings are denominated in Singapore Dollar.

(d)

Interest rate risk
The weighted average effective interest rates of total borrowings at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Bank borrowings
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20.

Share capital
2007

Issued and fully paid:
Balance at beginning of financial year
Issuance of shares
Balance at end of financial year

No. of
shares
’000

2006
Amount
$’000

No. of
shares
’000

Amount
$’000

612,000
122,000

29,108
12,913

612,000
–

29,108
–

734,000

42,021

612,000

29,108

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary
shares carry one vote per share without restrictions.
During the current financial year, the Company issued 122 million shares through a share placement exercise.

21.

Commitments
(a)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements is as
follows:
Group

Leasehold improvement
Intangible assets – franchises and licences
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2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

–
–

1,616
30

–
–

–
–

–

1,646

–

–

Annual Report 2007

NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2007
21.

Commitments (cont’d)
(b)

Operating lease commitments
The Group leases various offices, shops and other premises under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, computed based on the agreed fixed lease rental rates are as
follows:
Group

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
More than five years

Company

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

4,432
12,265
–

4,346
14,627
2,057

464
175
–

464
626
–

16,697

21,030

639

1,090

Under the terms of certain lease arrangements, the Group shall pay a yearly variable lease rental, computed
based on a certain percentage of gross revenue generated by Group’s operations at the leased premises. The
base lease rental for one lease arrangement increases over the lease term. The Group has incurred $306,000
(2006: $Nil) of variable lease rental expenses in the current financial year.
The Group has an option for renewal for a further term of three and six years for two lease agreements.

22.

Related party transactions
(a)

Sales and purchase of goods and services
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following
significant transactions between the Group and related parties who are not members of the Group took place
during the year at terms agreed between the parties:
Group

Purchase of services from a director-related company
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2007
$’000

2006
$’000

5

–
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22.

Related party transactions (cont’d)
(b)

The key management personnel compensation is as follows:
Group

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits – contribution to Central Provident Fund

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

1,356
36

1,205
43

1,392

1,248

Including in the above, total compensation for directors of the Company amounted to $812,000 (2006:
$874,000). The banding of directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 5.

23.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and cash and fixed deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trade in derivative financial instruments
shall be undertaken.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:
(a)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from borrowings and short-term bank deposits. Apart from
borrowings and short-term bank deposits, all other financial assets and liabilities at year-end are non-interest
bearing. The borrowings are subject to re-pricing in less than 6 months (2006: 6 months) at balance sheet date
with interest adjusted at a margin over the banks’ prime lending rate. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk
is monitored on a regular basis to ensure that the borrowings and short-term bank deposits are maintained at
favourable rates.
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23.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(a)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are
exposed to interest rate risk:
Within
1 year
$’000

1-2
years
$’000

Total
$’000

Group
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings

15,571
4,992

–
457

15,571
5,449

Company
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings

13,238
3,522

–
212

13,238
3,734

Within
1 year
$’000

1-2
years
$’000

2-3
years
$’000

Total
$’000

2006
Group
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings

13,902
5,973

–
1,626

–
457

13,902
8,056

Company
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings

7,208
2,917

–
1,626

–
457

7,208
5,000

2007

Interest on financial instruments subject to floating interest rates is contractually required at intervals of less
than 8 months. Interest on financial instruments are fixed until maturity of the instrument. The other financial
instruments of the Group and the Company that are not included in the above tables are not subject to interest
rate risks.
(b)

Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
of goods and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history and that credit terms for each
customer are periodically reviewed.
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23.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(c)

Liquidity risk
The Group has minimum exposure to liquidity risk as it has adequate amounts of cash and credit facilities to
ensure flexibility in funding.

24.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.
Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair values
Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
other current assets, amounts due from subsidiary companies, trade and other payables and other liabilities, based on
their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short-term in nature or are
repriced frequently.
There were no significant differences between the fair values and the carrying amounts of the borrowings of the Group
as at 31 July 2007.

25.

Reclassifications and comparative figures
The financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2006 were audited by a firm other than Ernst & Young.
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to conform to the current year’s
presentation. As a result, certain line items have been amended in the face of the profit and loss account and related
notes to accounts.

Consolidated profit and loss account
Employee benefits
Advertising, media and entertainment
Transportation
Finance
Contract services
Others
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Previously
reported
$’000

After
reclassification
before restating
results for disposed
companies
$’000

After
reclassification
(restated)
$’000

5,250
1,872
302
415
933
1,534

5,242
2,133
61
391
713
1,766

4,562
1,596
53
391
713
1,592
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25.

26.

Reclassifications and comparative figures (cont’d)

Previously
reported
$’000

After
reclassification
(restated)
$’000

Balance sheet of the Group
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets

1,385
1,106

1,201
1,290

Balance sheet of the Company
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets

3,148
138

2,964
322

Authorisation of financial statements
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 July 2007 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the directors on 12 October 2007.
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STATISTICS

OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2007

Issued and fully paid-up capital
Number of shares
Class of shares
Voting rights

:
:
:
:

S$42,020,684
734,000,000
Ordinary shares
One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2007

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 AND ABOVE

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS

% OF
SHAREHOLDERS

NO. OF
SHARES

% OF ISSUED
SHARE CAPITAL

5

0.16

1,100

0.00

833

25.51

4,709,500

0.64

2,376

72.77

218,211,800

29.73

51

1.56

511,077,600

69.63

3,265

100.00

734,000,000

100.00

NO. OF SHARES

% OF HOLDINGS

114,429,000
57,387,000
29,359,000
29,000,000
29,000,000
22,038,000
15,374,000
15,089,000
15,086,000
14,868,000
14,406,800
13,400,000
12,530,000
11,040,800
11,000,000
10,000,000
7,976,000
7,246,000
6,000,000
5,242,000

15.59
7.82
4.00
3.95
3.95
3.00
2.09
2.06
2.06
2.03
1.96
1.83
1.71
1.50
1.50
1.36
1.09
0.99
0.82
0.71

440,471,600

60.02

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2007
NO.

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

C.H.Y REGALIA LIMITED
LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD
CIMB BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) SDN BHD
HAN SENG JUAN
LOH KIM KANG DAVID
LEE SENG CHOON
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD
CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD
KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
WONG MICHAEL C. K.
SBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
TANN KAH HUAT ERIC
DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD
ABN AMRO NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
YEAP LAM WAH
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2007

NO.

NAME

1
2
3
4

C. H. Y Regalia Limited
Ang Yee Lim *
Michael Wong C. K.
Lee Shieh–Peen Clement

*

NO. OF SHARES
HELD AS DIRECT

NO. OF SHARES
HELD AS DEEMED

117,369,000
–
43,483,800
38,440,000

–
117,369,000
–
–

Mr Ang Yee Lim has a controlling interest in C.H.Y. Regalia Limited and therefore is deemed to have an interest in the
117,369,000 shares held by C.H.Y. Regalia Limited.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information available to the Company as at 17 October 2007, approximately 60% of the issued ordinary shares of the
Company were held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual, issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited, is complied with.
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NOTICE

OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of LIFEBRANDZ LTD. will be held at Copthorne Orchid Hotel
Singapore, Mokara Room, Level 1, 214 Dunearn Road, Singapore 299526 on 28 November 2007 at 3.30 p.m. for the following
purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive and, if approved, to adopt the Audited Accounts of the Company for the financial year ended
31 July 2007 together with the Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon.

Resolution 1

2.

To approve Directors’ Fees of S$148,000 for the financial year ended 31 July 2007 (2006: S$142,000).

Resolution 2

3.

To re-elect Mr. Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh who is retiring under Article 107 of the Articles of Association.

Resolution 3

4.

To re-elect Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III who is retiring under Article 107 of the Articles of
Association.

Resolution 4

5.

To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, as auditors of the Company and to
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 5

6.

To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution (with or without amendments) as an Ordinary Resolution:7.

AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES
THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Rule 806 of the Listing
Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors be empowered to allot and
issue shares and convertible securities in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or
otherwise) at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may,
in their absolute discretion, deem fit, PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the aggregate number of shares and
convertible securities to be issued pursuant to this resolution shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the
issued share capital of the Company, of which the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities
to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed twenty percent
(20%) of the issued share capital of the Company, and that such authority shall continue in force until
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the expiration of the period within which the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, unless
the authority is previously revoked or varied at a general meeting. For the purposes of this resolution, the
percentage of issued share capital shall be based on the Company’s issued share capital at the time of
the passing of this resolution after adjusting for:(a)

new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or from exercising
employee share options outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this resolution;
and
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NOTICE
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(b)

any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAN MIN-LI
COMPANY SECRETARY
Date : 13 November 2007

Notes :(i)

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies
to attend and vote in his stead. A member of the Company, which is a corporation, is entitled to appoint its authorised
representative or proxy to vote on its behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 123 Penang Road #03-12,
Regency House, Singapore 238465 at least 48 hours before the time of the Meeting.

(ii)

If re-elected under Resolution 3, Mr. Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh will remain as an Executive Director of the Company.

(iii)

If re-elected under Resolution 4, Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III will remain as Non-Executive Director of the
Company, a member of the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

(iv)

Resolution 6, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue shares and convertible securities in the
Company up to a maximum of fifty percent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company (of which the aggregate
number of shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders shall
not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the issued share capital of the Company) for such purposes as they consider would
be in the interests of the Company. This authority will continue in force until the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company or the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held,
whichever is the earlier, unless the authority is previously revoked or varied at a general meeting.
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LIFEBRANDZ LTD.

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the Company’s ordinary
shares, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all
intends and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.
3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as OBSERVERS have
to submit their requests through their respective Agent banks so that their Agent
Banks may register with the Company Secretary of Lifebrandz Ltd.

(Incorporated in Singapore)
(Company Registration No. 200311348E)

PROXY FORM
I/We

of
being a member/members of the above-mentioned Company, hereby appoint:-

Name

Address

NRIC/
Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be held at Copthorne Orchid Hotel Singapore, Mokara Room, Level 1, 214 Dunearn Road, Singapore 299526 on 28 November
2007 at 3.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy to vote for or against the Resolutions to be
proposed at the Meeting as hereunder indicated.
No. Ordinary Resolutions

For

Against

Ordinary Business
1.

To adopt the Audited Accounts, Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 July 2007

2.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$148,000 for the financial year ended 31 July
2007 (2006: S$142,000)

3.

To re-elect Mr Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh as a Director under Article 107

4.

To re-elect Mr Thomas Carlton Thompson, III as a Director under Article 107

5.

To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as auditors and authorise Directors to fix their remuneration
Special Business

6.

To authorize Directors to allot shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50
and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Dated this

day of

2007.

No. of Shares Held

Signature(s) of member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Notes to the Proxy Form
1.

Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you
have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50), you should insert that number of shares. If
you have shares registered in your name in the Register of
Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you
have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register and shares registered in your name in the Register
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of
shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If
no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or
proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a
meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than
two proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

3.

Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the
percentage of his shares to be represented by each proxy and
if no percentage is specified, the first named proxy shall be
deemed to represent 100 per cent of his shareholding and the
second named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to
the first named.

4.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies together with the
letter of power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed or a
duly certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the registered
office of the Company at 123 Penang Road, #03-12, Regency
House, Singapore 238465 at least 48 hours before the time
appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

6.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution
of its directors or other governing body such a person as
it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General
Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies
Act, Chapter 50.

7.

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you
wish your vote(s) to be for or against the Resolutions as set
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence
of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as
he/they may think fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising
at the Annual General Meeting.

8.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly
completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the
appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the
appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or
proxies.

9.

In the case of a member whose shares are entered against
his name in the Depository Register, the Company may reject
any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48
hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General
Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to
the Company.

AFFIX
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THE COMPANY SECRETARY
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123 Penang Road
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Singapore 238465
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